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The Simpson County Courthouse is situated in the center of the town square 
in Franklin, Kentucky. With a population of approximately 6,553 Franklin 
is centrally located in this southern county within six miles of the Tennessee 
border. A turn-of-the-century church occupies the west side of the square, 
and commercial establishments comprise the other three sides..

Constructed in 1882, the courthouse is a two-story brick building embodying 
a cross-axial plan (see photo 1). The main facade is pierced by narrow 
windows with square brick hood molds. Brick pilasters divide the building 
vertically while a stone stringcourse encircles the structure at the 
second story level. On the east and west facades is a three-story projecting 
pavilion containing the entrances, each of which is sheltered by a shallow 
porch supported by Corinthian columns. Large, round-arched transoms surmount 
the double,glass-panelled doors (see photo 2). A Palladian window set within 
a segmental-arched corbelled recess pierces the upper portion of the pavillion 
and beneath it is a tripartite window arrangement. The dentilled cornice 
is accentuated by corbelled brick courses. Windows have stone lintels and 
Sills. The north and south sides are four bays deep and contain tall, round- 
arched windows on the second level and straight-headed windows on the first 
floor. A clock tower rises from the tin, hipped roof.

One and one-half story brick wings which blend well with the 1882 design 
were added to the north and south sides in 1962. Although various minor 
alterations have been made, most of the interior remains intact (see photo 3).

The nominated property includes approximately three acres and comprises the 
entire courthouse lot.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Simpson County Courthouse in Franklin, Kentucky, is the town's most handsome late 
nineteenth century structure and ranks as one of the county's finest examples of 
Victorian architecture. The two-story brick structure serves as both the visual and 
physical focal point of the town as well as being the governmental center of the county.

Simpson County, Kentucky was formed in 1819 by the Kentucky General Assembly. It was 
created out of parts of Logan, Warren, and Alien Counties. It was the sixty-third 
county developed in the state and retains its original boundaries. It is situated 
in the extreme southern part of the state and is bounded on the north by Warren County, 
on the east by Alien County, on the west by Logan County, and on the south by the 
Tennessee state line. The county seat of Simpson County is the city of Franklin 
which was incorporated on November 2, 1820.

The first courthouse in Franklin was built in the center of the square in 1819. In 
1860 this log house was torn down and a brick structure was erected on the same site. 
In May 1882, the courthouse burned. Shortly thereafter plans submitted by the McDonald 
Brothers for the construction of a new courthouse were accepted. The exterior of the 
building remains virtually unchanged since its construction. It retains the original 
clock and bell made by the McShane Bell Foundry-Henry McShane and Company, Baltimore 
Maryland in 1883. The bell has been used through the years to announce the opening of 
court sessions.

By 1962 the courthouse completed in 1883 had become inadequate for the county's needs, aid 
resulted in the addition of wings on the north & south sides. On the first floor 
extra space was provided for the county court clerk, the county tax Commissioner, and 
the circuit court clerk. On the second floor the north wing provided a new room which 
was used as a library and as a room for the court to conduct private discussions. 
Private quarters were also provided for the cjunty judge.

The courthouse is the first of four structures in Franklin that are known to have been 
designed by the prestigious Louisville architectural firm of the McDonald Brothers. 
Other works of the McDonald Brothers in Franklin include the First Franklin Presbyterian 
Church (1886), the Franklin Female College (1889), and the 1893 Goodnight House (listed 
on the National Register August 12, 1977). From the 1870s into the twentieth century, 
the firm designed numerous buildings in the Louisville area and a substantial number 
of public buildings across the state and throughout the southeast. Besides the Simpson 
County Courthouse, the McDonald Brothers are responsible for the Adair, Bell (destroyed),
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Boone, Carroll, Casey, Henry, Hickman, Laurel (destroyed in 1958), Trimble 
(rebuilt in 1953 based on the 1884 design), and Whitley (destroyed in 1931) 
County Courthouses, as well as numerous jails. All of these, with the excep­ 
tion of the 1875 Henry County building, were constructed in the 1880s and 
reveal a generally uniform plan and massing. The Simpson County Courthouse 
is almost identical in materials, plan, and detail to the 1885 Adair (listed 
in the National Register on August 27, 1974) and the 1884-85 Hickman (listed 
in the National Register on October 11, 1975) county buildings and bears 
a strong resemblance to the other McDonald Brothers courthouses. These 
similarities indicate that the firm established a standard courthouse form, 
of which the Simpson County structure was the prototype, and proceeded to 
employ that design with only slight modifications throughout Kentucky and 
the southeast region during the last quarter of the nineteenth century.
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